IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO. 83,149

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Florida Bar No. 184170

Petitioner,

vs.

JOYCE LANGSTON on behalf of minor child, SHANARD LANGSTON,

Respondent.

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 18 1994

CLERK, SUPKEME COURT

By

Chief Doputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 93-2354

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Esquire Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire 1777 South Andrews Avenue Suite 302 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305) 525-5885 - Broward (305) 940-7557 - Dade

and

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Overview

This is an ordinary automobile case involving a claim for uninsured motorist benefits. The sole issue below was whether there was UM coverage and there are no claims of bad faith. However, the Fourth District ordered the production of all types of irrelevant material in direct conflict with established law. This is one of the hundreds of cases where the Plaintiff requested voluminous documents and financial information allegedly to impeach the Defendant's medical witnesses and in hopes of stumbling upon some basis to sue for bad faith. These legal issues regarding the production of 1099s tax forms, patient lists, client lists, agencies hiring doctors to do IMEs, etc., are inundating our trial and appellate courts.

It should be bourne in mind throughout that in the Answer Allstate admitted there is coverage, and this is therefore a routine uninsured motorist case, with the only issues being routine liability and damage issues.

Langston is a case of first impression, involving the latest trend to use the discovery process in personal injury cases, to harass defendants, their insurance carriers, the IMEs physician, and sometimes even the plaintiff's own insurance carrier. Plaintiffs routinely are filing requests to produce clearly irrelevant, immaterial, and burdensome discovery, in order to extract settlements in cases and using them as a tool to force particular doctors from being involved in the judicial process at

all by serving as independent medical examiners (IMES). The now routine requests for voluminous amounts of financial information, 1099s, income tax forms, client lists, letters to doctors who might do IMEs, etc., from any doctor who is planning on testifying for defendants, as well as requests for massive amounts of concededly irrelevant and immaterial discovery was spawned by the Fourth District's decision in McAdoo, infra.

Now the Fourth District has held in an ordinary uninsured motorist case where the issues are negligence and damages, and no bad faith is alleged, that the insurance carrier must produce all types of internal memorandums, claims procedural manuals, company standards, which the Fourth District recognized as totally immaterial and irrelevant discovery. Allstate Insurance Company v. Langston, 627 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993).

It should be noted that most of the material could not even be used at trial and some is irrelevant, as noted in the decision. Similarly, the other matter discussed in this Brief, namely using a 1099 form to impeach an IME would be improper to use at trial, since it would be an improper attempt to impeach a witness on a collateral matter using extrinsic evidence.

This court now has the opportunity to put a stop to this widespread abuse of the discovery process in personal injury cases in Florida, which will result in judicial economy as well as substantial savings and economy in routine insurance litigation, to put discovery back on the right track and resolve the direct and express conflict; which requires reversal of the

Fourth District's decision below.

Specific Facts

Langston was a passenger in a car hit by an alleged uninsured motorist. Langston sued Allstate Insurance Company and GEICO for uninsured motorist benefits. Allstate answered admitting that its policy provided UM coverage, that Langston was an insured under its policy with Mrs. Graves, but that Langston was not entitled to recover UM benefits for this particular accident, because of a dispute as to the value of the claim based on issues of negligence and damages.

Subsequently, Langston filed a Request to Produce to Defendant, Allstate Insurance Company, for:

- 3. All internal procedural memos regarding the handling of uninsured motorist claims in effect during the last twelve (12) months.
- 4. Your latest claims manual on processing and handling of uninsured motorist claims in general.
- 5. A copy of your standards for the proper investigation of claims that were in effect at any time during the last twenty-four (24) months.
- 6. All correspondence to or from anyone, including any insurance agencies, any doctors' offices, any employers, any agencies hired to select doctors for "independent medical examinations" and any law enforcement agencies for the uninsured motorist claim involved herein.

Langston, 1178.

Allstate filed timely objections to items 3 through 5 on the

basis of work product privilege and relevance; and that the requests were vague and overbroad; and work product as to item 6.

Langston, 1178-1179.

A hearing was held regarding Allstate's objections on July 6, 1993. The judge overruled Allstate's objections, finding that the requested production was not for the entire claim file, but for the procedure used in processing claims in general.

Langston, 1179. In response to the judge's blanket Order overruling the objections to paragraphs 3, 4, 5, and 6, Allstate asserted again that the lawsuit did not involve any claims of bad faith, and that, even if it did, the claim file was still not "automatically discoverable."

The appellate court granted certiorari regarding paragraph 6, which requested letters to and from any doctor's office or agency hired to select doctors for independent medical exams.

Langston, 1179. The Fourth District required in camera inspection of those documents first. It also ordered the production of all the items listed in paragraphs 3, 4 and 5; which Allstate had objected to on the basis that they were work product and that the request to discovery was irrelevant.

Langston, 1179.

The Fourth District did not find that the requested claims manuals, standards, etc., were work product. The court did find that all of these documents were <u>irrelevant</u> to the lawsuit; especially where the Plaintiff had no claim whatsoever for bad faith or unfair claim practice against Allstate. <u>Langston</u>, 1179.

Furthermore, the court noted that the Plaintiff did not even offer any explanation as to how these documents could be possibly relevant to her routine UM lawsuit. <u>Langston</u>, 1179.

The Fourth District, however, decided that even though the routine claims manuals, etc., were completely irrelevant, the documents still had to be produced because Allstate could not establish "material injury of an irreparable nature;" i.e., threat of physical harm. <u>Langston</u>, 1179.

Allstate petitioned for review of Langston on the basis that it was in direct and express conflict with Kilgore, Brooks, and Martin-Johnson, infra, as well as numerous district court decisions that have held that completely irrelevant discovery does not have to be produced, even absent a showing of irreparable harm. In addition, the Fourth District had abrogated Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.280; and the case involved a question of great public importance regarding whether irreparable harm is presumed from an Order to produce irrelevant discovery, especially where it is virtually impossible for the proponent to show irreparable harm where the discovery sought is irrelevant to the litigation. Moreover, if this decision in Langston is upheld, it will make routine uninsured motorist litigation much more expensive, needlessly. This court accepted jurisdiction to resolve the direct and express conflict, and now has the opportunity to rule in a case of first impression on the increasing trend to misdirect the discovery process; using it instead to harass defendants and insurance carriers in personal injury cases, to

force settlements, to eliminate doctors from their participation in the judicial process, and to conduct fishing expeditions through an insurance carrier's business manuals, standards of procedures, etc., in the hopes of finding some basis to sue the carrier for bad faith.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a routine case involving a claim for uninsured motorist benefits where the issues are solely negligence and damages, and no claims of bad faith are involved. However, following the current trend to use the discovery process as a tool to force settlement and to keep doctors from doing IMEs, the Plaintiff requested voluminous documents having nothing whatsoever to do with uninsured motorist coverage. The Fourth District recognized that the requested material was totally irrelevant, but ordered it produced anyway, because Allstate could not establish irreparable harm. Such harm is presumed when the discovery is not in anyway related to the Plaintiff's lawsuit and the Order below must be quashed.

The material ordered produced in this case, would not be relevant, as noted by the decision. Similarly, this Brief discusses the other "harassment discovery" situation that is now being used to harrass insurance carriers and IME doctors, namely production of 1099 forms. The 1099s would not be allowed as evidence at trial since they would be excluded as attempted impeachment of a witness on a collateral matter using extrinsic evidence, and are solely harrassment.

This court must put a stop to the ever increasing abuse of discovery in personal injury cases, which started with requests to produce 1099s and has escalated to include personal financial information of virtually any medical witness, as well as requests for all types of private and irrelevant business documents,

procedures, policies, etc. The Fourth District started us down this slippery slope and it must end with reversal of the Fourth's latest decision in Langston.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION BELOW IS IN DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH FLORIDA RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 1.280(b)(1); AND NUMEROUS DECISIONS OUT OF THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS; AND PRESENTS A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE REGARDING THE PRODUCTION OF CONCEDEDLY IRRELEVANT DISCOVERY AND THE INHERENT IRREPARABLE HARM IN HAVING TO PRODUCE THESE DOCUMENTS.

This is a routine case involving a claim for uninsured motorist benefits where the issues are solely negligence and damages, and no claims of bad faith are involved. However, following the current trend to use the discovery process as a tool to force settlement and to keep doctors from doing IMEs, the Plaintiff requested voluminous documents having nothing whatsoever to do with uninsured motorist coverage. The Fourth District recognized that the requested material was totally irrelevant, but ordered it produced anyway, because Allstate could not establish irreparable harm. Such harm is presumed when the discovery is not in anyway related to the Plaintiff's lawsuit and the Order below must be quashed.

This is a case of first impression regarding the new trend to misdirect and subvert the discovery process, as it is now being used in personal injury cases as a tool to force particular doctors from being involved in the judicial process at all by conducting independent medical examinations, and/or to extract settlements in individual cases. <u>LeJeune v. Aikin</u>, 624 So. 2d 788, 790 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), Chief Judge Schwartz specially

concurring. The discovery process is being used in a two-fold manner to harass defendants, insurance carriers and the doctors who may become defense expert witnesses. They are being routinely bombarded with voluminous requests for financial discovery, 1099 forms, income tax forms, client lists, lists of insurance companies hiring doctors; as well as massive requests for insurance carriers to produce every piece of paper the insurance company uses in its business.

Little, if any, of this requested material has anything whatsoever to do with the personal injury case itself. Rather, it is a form of harassment which began with the Fourth District's decision in McAdoo v. Ogden, 573 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) and has cumulated with the Fourth District's decision in Langston, which requires the production of admittedly irrelevant material contrary to established Florida law.

This court has the opportunity in this case of first impression to remind the trial bar of the purposes behind modern discovery and to reestablish that only relevant discovery must be produced. Plaintiffs are not entitled to fishing expeditions through the corporate papers of every insurance carrier and defendant, in the hopes of stumbling upon something that could form the basis for a later bad faith lawsuit. Nor are they entitled to every financial detail from the Defendant's witnesses. In one case, a plaintiff tried to obtain 1099s and personal financial information from her own treating physician, who was going to be a defense witness. State Farm Mutual

Automobile Insurance Company v. Harris, Case No. 94-810 (Fla. 4th DCA, Petition filed March 24, 1994).

The abuse of the discovery process has grown so widespread and has gotten so far out of control that some appellate judges in the Third District and Fourth District are now writing opinions, stating that this discovery wildfire needs to be curbed. This case must be used to put the fire out and put us back on the track of real discovery, which has always been limited to only relevant evidence; and to remind us that discovery is not a device to be used to the harassment of the opposing party, nor as a device to prevent a defense in the case.

The improper discovery procedures being used fall into two categories. The first is requests to insurance carriers for their general claims manual, standards, procedures, etc., which are concededly irrelevant and completely unrelated to any uninsured motorist claim. Apparently, this discovery is an attempt to find some type of basis for suing the insurance carrier for bad faith. The second catagory includes the voluminous amounts of discovery directed at defendants, insurance carriers, doctors, doctors offices and agents, allegedly to impeach the doctor who has done the independent medical examination, will do the independent medical examination, or will be a defense witness at trial. We will address each one of the prongs separately, as both of them are implicated in the Langston case.

Order to Produce Irrelevant Material Must be Quashed.

In a truly bizarre ruling, the Fourth District in this case expressly recognized that the documents sought in paragraphs 3, 4, and 5, consisting of the insurance company's internal procedure memos, claims manuals, standards for proper investigation of claims, etc., were irrelevant to the Plaintiff's UM claim; especially where there was no claim for bad faith or unfair claim practices made. Langston, 1179. In spite of this, the Fourth District still required the production of this completely irrelevant material, on the basis that the Defendant had failed to show irreparable harm from having to produce completely irrelevant material; expressly holding that although it is irrelevant, it nonetheless must be produced:

The petitioner contends that the trial court compelled irrelevant and privileged discovery.

We do agree that from the face of the request that the documents sought in paragraphs 3, 4 and 5, consisting of internal procedural memos, claims manuals and standards for proper investigation of claims, appear irrelevant to a lawsuit involving a claim for uninsured motorist benefits where no claim of bad faith or unfair claim practices has been made. The respondent has not offered an explanation regarding the purported relevancy of such discovery in this lawsuit. However, even if the discovery were irrelevant, that alone is not a basis for granting the extraordinary remedy of certiorari, unless the disclosure of the materials "may reasonably cause material injury of an irreparable nature.

Langston, 1179.

-12-

This holding is in direct and express conflict with cases out of this court, cases out of the district courts, and with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

The first reason why the discovery Order below must be quashed is that the information sought is totally irrelevant and immaterial to the personal injury lawsuit against the Defendant. The sole issues in this lawsuit are the issues of liability and damages, and the amount of uninsured motorist benefits, if any. The blanket discovery Order doing away with Allstate's privileges and compelling the Defendant to produce all procedural manuals, standards, etc. is therefore totally improper.

Therefore, this is improper discovery because it could not be at trial. The opinion expressly notes that it is irrelevant. Similarly, in the other "harrassment discovery" situation which is now frequently used to harrass the insurance company and the IME doctors, namely production of 1099 forms; the 1099 forms should not be used at trial to impeach the doctors, since it would constitute an improper attempt to impeach on a collateral matter using extrinsic evidence, and would result in a "minitrial" on an improper matter. Docemus v. Florida Energy Systems of South Florida, Inc., 634 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

The law is totally settled that only matters relevant to the subject matter of the litigation are discoverable. <u>Hoogland v. Dollar Land Corporation</u>, <u>Ltd.</u>, 330 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); <u>Begel v. Hirsch</u>, 350 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), <u>cert.</u>

denied, 361 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1978); Graphic Associates, Inc. v. Riviana Restaurant Corporation, 461 So. 2d 1011 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). It is also well settled in Florida that evidence is properly excluded that has no relevance to any issue in the case. Knight v. Empire Land Co., 55 Fla. 301, 45 So. 1025 (1908).

Furthermore, Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.280(b)(1) requires that matters sought to be discovered be relevant to the subject matter of the action. In the present case, there is absolutely no relevance whatsoever to memos, standards and claims manuals utilized by Allstate and the only legal issues in this lawsuit; which is whether there is UM coverage for this particular accident, and if so, how much. Even the Fourth District recognized this. <u>Langston</u>, 1789.

The Fourth District defined relevancy in Zabner v. Howard

Johnson's Incorporated of Florida, 227 So. 2d 543, 544 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1969) as follows:

Relevancy describes evidence that has a legitimate tendency to prove or disprove a given proposition that is material as shown by the pleadings... Relevancy has been defined as a tendency to establish a fact in controversy or to render a proposition in issue more or less probable.

Similarly, the Florida Evidence Code, §90.401, states that relevant evidence is evidence tending to prove or disprove a "material fact".

The procedures used by Allstate (or any insurer) to process
UM claims obviously have no relevance, nor are they material in
any way to the Plaintiff's lawsuit. The issue below is liability

and damages, and the amount, if any, recoverable. The office policies and procedures are not material or relevant to the defenses, that the benefits were recoverable from collateral sources, that the Plaintiff was comparatively negligent, etc.

Evidence as to immaterial matters is inadmissible for any purpose. Erp v. Carroll, 438 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983);

Masker v. Smith, 405 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). For more than 60 years, Florida case law has held that facts should not be submitted to the jury unless they are logically relevant to the issues in the case. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Campbell, 104 Fla. 274, 139 So. 886 (1932). Relevancy is the result of a relationship between an item of evidence and a matter properly provable in the case.

The test for admissibility is relevancy. The test of inadmissibility is the lack of relevancy. Reddish v. State, 167 So. 2d 858 (Fla. 1964); Johnson v. State, 130 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1961); Dixie-Bell Oil Company, Inc. v. Gold, 275 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973).

The court in <u>Zabner</u> held that the admission into evidence of prior lawsuits filed by the plaintiff was reversible error, since the litigious nature of the plaintiff was not material or relevant to her personal injury claims. In <u>Graphic</u>, the court quashed a discovery order compelling production of corporate records and books; because the material sought was not relevant to any issue in the breach of contract action for lost profits.

<u>Graphic</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>See also</u>, <u>Gribbel v. Henderson</u>, 154 Fla. 78, 16

So. 2d 639 (1944) (one could not have corporate books and records brought into court for inspection on nothing more than a mere suspicion that they contained evidence pertinent to the cause of action). Similarly in <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 177 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965), it was held reversible error for the trial court to admit testimony regarding the defendant's pretrial statement; such testimony was immaterial and irrelevant to the issue of the defendant's guilt.

The Third District granted certiorari and quashed another discovery order as being overly broad and irrelevant in <u>Cabrera v. Evans</u>, 322 So. 2d 559 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). In <u>Cabrera</u>, the interrogatories sought information as to the appellant's formal education, requested answers as to corporate structure, even though the plaintiff was an individual, and sought information as to the character of the neighborhood, where the incident took place. The Third District found that the interrogatories were so burdensome to the appellant as to be oppressive and that the trial court erred in overruling the appellant's objections to them. Cabrera, 560.

The court noted that there are limits to the trial judge's discretion in his order as to discovery procedure. <u>See also</u>,

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