FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 5 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NUMBER 83,149

CLERK,	SUPREME COURT
By	nief Deputy Clerk

ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOYCE LANGSTON, on behalf of the minor child, SHANARD LANGSTON,

Respondent.	Re	sp	ond	len	t	•
-------------	----	----	-----	-----	---	---

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NUMBER 93-2354

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

Darryl L. Lewis, Esquire
William N. Hutchinson, Jr., P.A.
Counsel for Respondent
514 Southeast 7th Street
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
(305) 764-0588
Florida Bar # 818021

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner failed to prove that it would suffer material injury of an irreparable nature by the production of the requested documents, and therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct in denying, in part, the Writ of Certiorari. Contrary to the Petitioner's assertions, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not create new law in its decision in Allstate Insurance Company v. Langston, 627 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Nor is the decision in conflict with Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(1) or other appellate decisions. The Fourth District Court of Appeal merely followed the law as developed by this Court and the decisions of other District Courts. Specifically, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that for the Petitioner to be successful in the granting of an extraordinary remedy of certiorari, it had to show that the disclosure of the requested "[might] reasonably cause material injury of an documents irreparable nature." Id. See also Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987); Brooks v. Owens, 97 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1957) (where there is no full, adequate and complete remedy by appeal after final judgment, certiorari is proper where court acted without and in excess of jurisdiction, or order does not conform to essential requirements of law and may cause material The Petitioner failed to sustain that burden, and injury). therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly denied the request for certiorari.

The crux of the Petitioner's Brief is that the production of

irrelevant evidence creates a material injury of an irreparable nature, and thus, the granting of certiorari would have been proper in the instant case. In the Petitioner's Initial Brief, the Petitioner attempts to divert attention away from the standard for determining whether certiorari is proper by discussing the relevant/irrelevant nature of the requested documents. However, while it is true that only relevant evidence should be admissible in the trial court, whether evidence is admissible is not the focus of the Court in a certiorari proceeding. Specifically, the focus in certiorari proceedings is on whether the moving party has demonstrated irreparable injury. If the moving party is unable to prove irreparable injury, an interlocutory appeal is not permitted under the Rules of Appellate Procedure and the only remedy is to bring a plenary appeal of the final judgment.

In conclusion, it seems clear that the Fourth District Court of Appeal followed established legal precedent in denying, in part, the Petitioner's request for certiorari. To have done otherwise would have meant ignoring the <u>procedural</u> requisites of appeals, in favor of just "getting to the issues." The Petitioner failed to sustain its burden in its request for certiorari, and therefore, cannot continue to argue that the relevancy of those documents should be controlling. That is simply not the issue.

ARGUMENT

THE PETITIONER FAILED TO PROVE THAT IT WOULD SUFFER MATERIAL INJURY OF AN IRREPARABLE NATURE BY THE PRODUCTION OF THE REQUESTED DOCUMENTS, AND THEREFORE, THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN DENYING, IN PART, THE WRIT OF CERTIONARI.

The Petitioner failed to prove that it would suffer material injury of an irreparable nature by the production of the requested documents, and therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct in denying, in part, the Writ of Certiorari. Contrary to the Petitioner's assertions, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not create new law in its decision in Allstate Insurance Company v. Langston, 627 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Nor is the decision in conflict with Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(1) or other appellate decisions. The Fourth District Court of Appeal merely followed the law as developed by this Court and the decisions of other District Courts. Specifically, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that for the Petitioner to be successful in the granting of an extraordinary remedy certiorari, it had to show that the disclosure of the requested "[might] reasonably cause material injury of documents irreparable nature." Id. See also Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987); Brooks v. Owens, 97 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1957) (where there is no full, adequate and complete remedy by appeal after final judgment, certiorari is proper where court acted without and in excess of jurisdiction, or order does not conform to essential requirements of law and may cause material The Petitioner failed to sustain that burden, and injury).

therefore, the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly denied the request for certiorari.1

The crux of the Petitioner's Brief is that the production of irrelevant evidence creates a material injury of an irreparable nature, and thus, the granting of certiorari would have been proper in the instant case. In the Petitioner's Initial Brief, the Petitioner attempts to divert attention away from the standard for determining whether certiorari is proper by discussing the relevant/irrelevant nature of the requested documents. while it is true that only relevant evidence should be admissible in the trial court, whether evidence is admissible is not the focus of the Court in a certiorari proceeding. Specifically, the focus in certiorari proceedings is on whether the moving party has demonstrated irreparable injury. 2 If the moving party is unable to prove irreparable injury, an interlocutory appeal is not permitted under the Rules of Appellate Procedure and the only remedy is to bring a plenary appeal of the final judgment.

In Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1100 (Fla. 1987), this Court delineated the test for the proper use of certiorari. Specifically, this Court opined that "common law certiorari is an extraordinary remedy." Id. at 1098. Furthermore,

The Petitioner's Brief goes beyond the scope of this appeal and includes what it characterizes as "harassment discovery". The Plaintiff's discovery request was narrow in scope requesting procedural memos, claims manuals, and standards for investigating and processing of claims.

Interestingly, the Petitioner admitted that it could not prove irreparable injury. [Petitioner's Brief at 26].

this Court referred to the Advisory Committee note to the 1977 Revision of the Florida Appellate Rules, and quoted:

[I]t is extremely rare that erroneous interlocutory rulings can be corrected by resort to common law certiorari. It is anticipated that since the most urgent interlocutory orders are appealable under this rule, there will be very few cases where common law certiorari will provide relief.

Id. at 1098-99. [citation omitted]. Therefore, although it is clear that certiorari is the proper vehicle by which a Petitioner can attempt relief from an erroneous discovery order, it should only be granted where an appeal "after final judgment is unlikely to [provide] an adequate remedy because once discovery is wrongfully gained, the complaining party is beyond relief." Id.

To prevail, the Petitioner must show that the harm which might result from the requested discovery is the "type of 'irreparable harm' contemplated by the standard of review for certiorari." Id. Basically, in these types of proceedings, "an order may be quashed only for certain fundamental errors." Id. Not every erroneous discovery order creates certiorari jurisdiction, as adequate redress by plenary appeal from a final judgment is available.

As with the requested discovery in the <u>Martin-Johnson</u> case, the Petitioners in the instant case have failed to demonstrate that material injury of an irreparable nature would be created by the production of the requested discovery. First, contrary to the Petitioner's assertions, the Fourth District Court of Appeal did not find that the requested documents were completely irrelevant. The language used by the Fourth District Court of Appeal was simply: "We do agree that from the face of the request that the

documents sought in paragraphs 3, 4 and 5, consisting of internal procedural memos, claims manuals and standards for proper investigation of claims, appear irrelevant to a lawsuit involving a claim for uninsured motorist benefits where no claim of bad faith or unfair claim practices has been made." <u>Langston</u>. [emphasis added]. Therefore, the Petitioner's continued characterization of the language used by the Fourth District Court of Appeal is misleading.

Furthermore, the Petitioner mischaracterized the holding of East Colonial Refuse Service, Inc. v. Velocci, 416 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), by claiming that the court had "presumed" harm where irrelevant discovery had been ordered to be produced. East Colonial, the Fifth District Court of Appeal simply held that discovery "must be relevant to the subject matter of the case and be admissible or reasonably calculated to lead to admissible evidence in the case." Id. at 1277. The case was further decided on the theory of privileged information, and that the requested documents did not have to be produced because of the existence of a privilege. Specifically, the requesting party was seeking a customer list that constituted a "trade secret." Id. at 1278. Not only did the Fifth District not hold that the information was completely irrelevant, but "left the door open," so to speak, for the requesting party to submit an additional request if it could be shown that there existed a right to the accounting. Id. Nonetheless, nowhere in the opinion does it suggest that there existed a presumption of harm in irrelevant information.

In the instant case, the Petitioner had originally objected to the discovery requests as irrelevant. Langston. The trial court obviously overruled that objection, as it ordered the Petitioner to provide the requested documents. On appeal, for the Petitioner to succeed in a request for certiorari, it was the Petitioner's burden to show that compliance with the trial court's order would result in "material injury or an irreparable nature." The Petitioner failed to sustain that burden. In its most simple terms, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's holding was that the Petitioner must sustain this burden to succeed in a request for certiorari, regardless of whether the requested documents were relevant. Unfortunately, the Petitioner in its Initial Brief is confusing two (2) distinct arguments. Before the courts can consider the merits of the relevancy argument, the Petitioner must prove that it is entitled to certiorari by proving material injury of an irreparable nature. After that burden has been sustained, the courts can consider the second issue of whether the requested information was relevant to the underlying causes of action. If the Petitioner cannot sustain its burden in certiorari, its only remedy under the Rules of Appellate Procedure is to conduct a plenary appeal after final judgment has been entered.

The Petitioner argues that it "has the fundamental right to maintain the integrity of its entire business operation."

[Petitioner's Brief at 25]. However, despite the Petitioner's choice of words, it is unclear how the disclosure of the requested policy manuals would "harm" the Petitioner's business, and

furthermore, how the Petitioner's maintenance of its business rises to a "fundamental right" as envisioned by this Court in Martin-Johnson.³ Additionally, the Petitioner attempts to characterize the requested documents as an "unlimited expedition" where "the Plaintiff is seeking all standards, procedure manuals, etc. in hopes of discovering something that the Plaintiff can use against the insurance carrier in some later lawsuit".⁴ [Petitioner's Brief at 25-26]. These accusations are not supported by the record, and should therefore, not be considered by this Court.

The Petitioner cites to a litary of cases involving petitions for certiorari where the first test applied is whether the discovery is relevant. But Petitioner appears to miss the point of this Court's opinion in Martin-Johnson, wherein this Court opined that the irrelevancy of discovery alone is not a basis for granting certiorari, but the correct standard to be used is whether the disclosure of the materials "may reasonably cause material injury of an irreparable nature." Martin-Johnson at 1100. Furthermore, the Fourth District Court of Appeals did not find that the discovery request was irrelevant. However, even if it had found

Interestingly, the Petitioner attempts to explain for the first time in its Initial Brief how it will be irreparably harmed by the disclosure of the requested documents. This argument should have been made before the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and the Petitioner's failure to establish material, irreparable injury lead to the Court's decision that certiorari was inappropriate.

In fact, the Petitioner in the very next paragraph admits "the Defendant has absolutely no way of knowing what the Plaintiff plans on doing with this irrelevant material, or how she is going to use it", so how can the Petitioner claim that the Respondent intends to use the documents in other litigation? [Petitioner's Brief at 26].

the discovery request irrelevant, the Court used the appropriate standard established by this Court in Martin-Johnson.

Additionally, this Court, referring to trial court orders on discovery matters, has stated that:

Even when the order departs from the essential requirements of the law, there are strong reasons militating against certiorari review. For example, the party injured by the erroneous interlocutory order may eventually win the case, mooting the issue, or the order may appear less erroneous or less harmful in light of the development of the case after the order.

Id. at 1100. Therefore, since the Petitioner failed to prove a material injury of an irreparable nature, the Fourth District Court of Appeal was correct in denying certiorari review.

Acceptance of Petitioner's argument, that certiorari should have been granted merely on the basis of relevancy, will work against the established purpose of the Rules of Civil Procedure which is to expedite cases. The harm in accepting the Petitioner's argument is that it will further clog our already overworked court system by the filing of scores of writs of certiorari on trial court orders where no irreparable harm can be demonstrated due to production of discovery material.⁵

In conclusion, it seems clear that the Fourth District Court

The Petitioner claims that Plaintiff requested "voluminous documents" and that this is a tool to force settlement [Petitioner's Brief at 9]. However, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has maintained that there must be a balancing between the competing interests of the relevancy of the discovery and the burdensomeness of its production, "[w]hether we are talking about a box-full or a boxcar-full of files." McAdoo v. Ogden, 573 So. 2d 1084, 1985 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The record is silent as to the volume of procedural memos or the amount of the claims manuals maintained by the Petitioner.

of Appeal followed established legal precedent in denying, in part, the Petitioner's request for certiorari. To have done otherwise would have meant ignoring the <u>procedural</u> requisites of appeals, in favor of just "getting to the issues." The Petitioner failed to sustain its burden in its request for certiorari, and therefore, cannot continue to argue that the relevancy of those documents should be controlling. That is simply not the issue.

CCNCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in all respects.

Respectfully submitted,

DARRYL L, LEWIS, ESQUIRE William N. Hutchinson, Jr., P.A. Counsel for Respondent

514 Southeast 7th Street

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

(305) 764-0588

Florida Bar # 818021